



OCCASION

This publication has been made available to the public on the occasion of the 50th anniversary of the United Nations Industrial Development Organisation.

TOGETHER

for a sustainable future

DISCLAIMER

This document has been produced without formal United Nations editing. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this document do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Secretariat of the United Nations Industrial Development Organization (UNIDO) concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries, or its economic system or degree of development. Designations such as "developed", "industrialized" and "developing" are intended for statistical convenience and do not necessarily express a judgment about the stage reached by a particular country or area in the development process. Mention of firm names or commercial products does not constitute an endorsement by UNIDO.

FAIR USE POLICY

Any part of this publication may be quoted and referenced for educational and research purposes without additional permission from UNIDO. However, those who make use of quoting and referencing this publication are requested to follow the Fair Use Policy of giving due credit to UNIDO.

CONTACT

Please contact <u>publications@unido.org</u> for further information concerning UNIDO publications.

For more information about UNIDO, please visit us at www.unido.org



D02845



Distribution: LIMITED

ID/WG.99/43 6 August 1971

United Nations Industrial Development Organization

Original: ENGLISH

Second Interregional Fertilizer Symposium Kiev, USSR, 21 September - 1 October 1971 New Delhi, India, 2 - 13 October 1971

Agenda item V/4

J. R. Potter Leonard Smith (Engineers) Limited Gillingham UK

100

FORECASTING PRODUCTION COSTS FOR FERTILIZER PROCESS

1/ The views and opinions expressed in this paper are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of the secretariat of UNIDO. This document has been reproduced without formal editing.

id.71-6242





CONTENTS

Summary

I. Introduction

II. The Relationship of Prospective to Retrospective Costs

III. Capital Cost

IV. The Treatment of Capital Charges in Production Costs

V. Overheads

VI. Prospective Production Costs

__**_**__

VII. Prospective Production Costs for Developing Countries

VIII. Review of Estimating Techniques for Production Costs

Antonia Ledrement

The author is very grateful to a number of his colleagues in Rumphreys and Glasgow Limited for the advice and assistance they have given in the proparation of this paper.

ar shart 🖡



SUMMARY

FORECASTING FRODUCTION COSTS FOR FERTILIZER PROCESSES

Production costs have to be forecast for a number of different purposes budgeting, feasibility studies, process evaluations and comparisons, assessment of R & D projects, technical literature. In the cases of budgeting and feasibility studies where the cost estimates concern specific plants on known sites, it is possible to adopt definitive costing techniques. There is, however, no uniformity of approach in preparing more generalised production cost data for the other purposes. It is comptimes maintained that any cost data, which are not specific to a particular plan: on a specific site, are almost worthless. Such generalised production cost data must continue to be used for the purposes mentioned; this paper therefore reviews the preparation of such data.

The method used for preparing generalised production costs should be such that the data produced are closely related to the costs which the accountant would calculate in fetrospect after the plant is in operation.

A plant capital cost which includes all of the elements of cost which will be incurred in building a plant and putting it into operation is constructed.

The major difficulties in preparing generalised production costs are shown to lie in the handling of capital charges and overheads. It is these two elements which result in the greatest differences between production cost figures presented by different sources. In determining the level of capital charges for generalised production costs, the percentage of the total capital cost charged per annum must enable the plant cost to be amortised over the life of the plant at the rate of return demanded for the project. When a single production cost figure is quoted, it is based on current cost and wage levels and does not make allowance for the effects of inflation. Inflation itself should not be regarded as a capital charge; if costs are being calculated without provision for inflation, then the rate of return should be reduced to the level which would apparently be acceptable to the investor if he did not have to cover inflation out of his interest or dividends.

The paper concludes with a discussion of methods for handling the special problems of Developing Countries when generalised production costs are used for such purposes as the analysis of process routes.

I. INTRODUCTION

The production cost of a process is probably the most vital piece of information about it. In spite of this, it is frequently difficult to compare or reconcile with one another production costs quoted by different authors or plant suppliers. One reason for this difficulty lies in the fact that production cost calculations often require the participation of engineers, economists and accountants, who do not always understand each other's problems and methods. There is no generally accepted format for presentation of production cost data. The need for a standard format is particularly pressing when different process routes to the same, or similar, products are being compared.

A second feature contributing to the difficulty in calculating production costs is the fact that costs are calculated in a different way according to the purpose for which they are required.

It is necessary to calculate production costs for a number of different purposes which can be divided into two groups:

Prospective costs - estimated costs for some period in the future Retrospective costs - calculated costs for a past period

Retrospective costs are very much the province of the accountant who must analyse actual expenditure, changes in capital values, etc. Prospective costs are more the field of the engineer and economist.

The purposes for which Prospective and Retrospective costs are likely to be required are shown in Table I.

TABLE I

7 -

USES OF PROSPECTIVE AND RETROSPECTIVE PRODUCTION COSTS

PROSPECTIVE

- 1. For assistance in pricing decisions.
- 2. Budgeting for the costs of future production from a plant.
- 3. Detailed evaluation of an Investment project.
- Analysis of alternative ways of achieving the basic objective of an Investment scheme.
- 5. Preliminary evaluation of an Investment scheme.
- 6. Analysis of Research and Development projects.
- 7. Presentation of general process information in technical literature.

RETROSPECTIVE

- 1. Budgetary control comparison with budget.
- Pinancial control to enable profit or loss to be determined so that cash resources available for re-investment, dividend, taxation, etc. are known.

Another complication in standardising production cost calculation methods is the range of size of the unit, whose costs of production we may wish to calculate. This could be a single plant unit, a group of plants representing a processing stream or a complete fertilizer complex manufacturing a number of fertilizer materials.

This paper is primarily concerned with Prospective estimation of production costs for individual plants. We must, however, examine Retrospective costs first since the methods of estimating future costs must be related to the way actual costs will be determined by the accountant after a period of operation of the plant.

The detailed analysis of projects in feasibility studies has been dealt with fully in a number of publications. Most Pinancial Organisations have their own specifications for studies in connection with Loans. In addition O.E.C.D. published a "Manual of Industrial Project Analysis in Developing Countries" in 1958.

ni indrigi 🕐 indri in

- 8 -

11. THE RELATIONSHIP OF PROSPECTIVE TO RETROSPECTIVE COSTS

The accountant will usually analyse the cost of production for a given period in the past - say one year. To do this he needs to know

(a) the cost of the total resources used in that year in connection with manufacture of the product concerned.

(b) the quantity produced in the year.

The cost of resources used would be the sum of the following component costs listed in Table II (some of which may be supplied from other plants on the same site).

TABLE II

ELEMENTS OF PRODUCTION COST (RETROSPECTIVE)

- A. Taw materials processed:
- B. Process labour and supervision (including direct payroll overheads, and expenses).
- C. Catalysts, chemicals, etc. consumed.
- D. Maintenance costs (equipment, materials, labour, expenses).
- E. Purchased utilities

Power

Water

Gas, etc.

F. Insurance.

H.

G. Apportioned overhead costs (administrative, site costs, selling, distribution costs).

Depreciation (the estimated reduction in value of the plant and equipment used during the year).

The total of these elements is the production cost for that year. If it is divided by the number of units produced, then the unit cost is obtained. It will be noted that "Interest" or "return on capital" is not shown in the costs. When the accountant is dealing with the total production costs of a fertilizer complex, then he may subtract these costs from the sales revenue (assuming no change is stocks of product) and hence obtain the gross profit for the year. This gross profit may then be allocated by the company management for interest, dividends, taxes, atc. and the residue retained.

If the accountant is calculating production costs for a single plant unit then he may allocate a proportion of the total interest, dividends, taxes, etc. for the complex to each individual plant as a part of the administrative overheads (G).

It will be clear that Retrospective production costs for a plant or for a fertilizer complex will vary from year to year over the life of the plant. When calculating Prospective costs and building up a single figure to represent the production cost, we must make this a realistic representation of the set of annual costs which the accountant will subsequently calculate for the plant year by year after it has been built.

The elements of Production costs in Table II can now be examined in relation to the list of uses of Prospective production costs given in Table I. It will then be clear which elements will present difficulties when the costs are to be used for the specific purposes listed. Apart from the problems of forecasting future costs and allowing for inflation (discussed in Section IV), there will usually be no difficulty in dealing with items A to F. Furthermore, for budgeting or pricing purposes when a plant is already operating or about to start up, the anticipated overhead costs (G) will be known and a good estimate of the annual depreciation (H) of an established capital value will be possible.

In the case of a detailed project evaluation (item 3 of Table I), it should also be possible to make realistic estimates of overheads and depreciation. The latter may not be required since it is more usual to estimate the year-byyear cash flows generated by the project and derive the return on it or the Net Present Worth by the discounted cash flow method.

Thus the handling of overhead costs (0), depreciation (H) and return on investment only presents difficulties when dealing with Prospective production costs in a more general way (items 4 to 7 of Table I). It would particularly be of value to the reader of technical literature if a uniform approach were adopted for production cost data presented. Following this discussion of the relationship between Prospective and Retrospective costs, the next step is to examine how the problem areas (G and H) can be handled in preparing generalised production cost data.

and the second second

iline al 1992.

.

.

- a harde office, a free Lago statistic afficia Statistics (process), 5 (3)
Statistics (process), 5 (3)
Statistics (process), 5 (3)

III. CAPITAL COST

Depreciation and return on investment are items which are related to the capital cost of the plant. The construction of capital cost estimates, which are suitable for use in the calculation of Prospective production costs, is examined in this section.

and a start of the second start

alterations and Alterations and a second

and the second sec

(2) We strange and the second seco

1

1000 49 - 174 4, 201

A statistical statist Statistical statisteps statistical statistical statistical statistical statisti

. Tributeau

i lett

i n har star

Part of constraint sectors of constraints
Sector Products

The basic elements of the capital cost of a plant are shown in Table III.

-

ding parts (1984) parts

<u>in 1</u>

•

TABLE III

ELEMENTS OF PLANT CAPITAL COST

Equipment Bulk materials Construction costs Labour, supervision and local expenses Construction tools, equipment, materials Civil works, provision of site services, etc. Freight, insurance and duties (if any) Eng. meering (design, project management and expenses) Licence fees

Spares

The sum of these would give the basic cost of designing, purchasing and erecting the plant if the job were carried out by the owner (an established organisation). There are, however, a number of other items which must be taken into account when calculating the full investment cost involved in building the plant and establishing it in normal operation.

<u>Contractor's Costs</u>: If a contractor is used to build the plant on a fixed cost basis then his contingency and profit margin must be added. Contingency will depend on the length of time for the project and the risks involved in the country where the plant is to be built. Also the company buying the plant will have to add to the contractor's price its own costs for personnel overseeing the project. The overall cost should 'still be lower if an experienced contractor is selected since the contractor will be able to achieve lower costs for the items listed in Table III.

Commissioning Costs: There are a number of expenses under this heading: Contractor's commissioning charges (if applicable).

Costs of training operating personnel.

Excess production costs (raw materials, labour, etc.) during initial start-up period.

<u>Capital Charges during Construction and Commissioning Period</u>: There is no depreciation charge during this period but a charge should be made for the "idle" capital during this period. If the plant is being constructed through a loan, then interest should be charged on the amount disbursed at the rate provided for under the terms of the loan.

Escelation: During the construction period inflution will increase the costs of materials and labour used in the later stages of construction. If a contractor carries out the project, then his fixed price will include provision for such cost increases. The problem of allowing for inflation during the full life of the plant will be discussed in greater depth later in this paper.

<u>Financing Charges</u>: If the plant is to be purchased by means of a loan then there will be payable certain charges, commissions and insurance premiums. These depend to a considerable degree on the source of the loan, its period, etc.

<u>Consultancy Fees</u>: The owner of the plant may employ consultants to prepars enquiry documents, advise on design and supervise the work of the contractor appointed to build the plant. These costs would largely replace similar expenses in the owner's organisation.

<u>Working Capital</u>: Most plants require stocks of basic raw materials and/or products for satisfactory operation. The cost of these represents an initial expense which will be recovered when the plant shuts down. The return on this capital is a cost of production in the plant, but depreciation does not have to be provided on it. If a detailed analysis of a complete complex is being prepared, then an accurate estimate of working capital can be made and return on this can be handled as a separate item of the capital charges. If not, an allowance should be made equivalent to a part of the working capital - thus reflecting the fact that depreciation does not need to be charged on working capital. (The working capital involved in financing credit for customores and other financial purposes is not considered as a production cost.)

Land: This should be treated in the same way as working capital. It does not depreciate but provision for return on the cost of it should be included in prospective production costs. Price of land varies considerably from site to site. Again in a detailed analysis, an accurate estimate of land cost at a specific location can be included. For generalised costing purposes, an allowance must be made reflecting the fact that there is no depreciation element.

The applicability of the charges itemised above is very much dependent on the way in which the work of constructing the plant is organised and financed. Certain items will always apply and, if the capital cost of the plant used for prospective costing is to be comparable to actual cost incurred in building and commissioning the plant, then an appropriate increment must be added to the total of the elements listed in Table III. Typical percentage figures for the additional costs are given in Table IV.

- 16 -

TABLE IV

TOTAL PROJECT CAPITAL COST

Basic Plant Cost (items listed in Table III) 100 Contractor's Margin and Contingency 5 to 10 Consultancy, Training and Start-up Costs 10 to 15 Interest on Capital during Construction 12 Escalation 10 Financing Charges 0 10 5 Allowance for Cost of Working Capital 3 Allowance for Land Ĩ ÷.

141 to 156

Total

. .

Contraine and

It is therefore proposed that in determining the capital cost of the plant for the purpose of calculating prospective production costs, 50% is added to the basic cost of items listed in "able III. This percentage cannot fit all cases perfectly; for example it is rather high for the simple case of the construction of a single new plant in the U.K. It would also be low for a complete fertilizer complex at the South Pole ! It is, however, generally a realistic figure and its use gives a much more appropriate total capital cost than is obtained by using only the sum of the elements listed in Table III.

The items in Table III together with the provision for additional costs listed in Table IV give realistic estimate of the capital cost involved in building a plant and putting it into operation. This capital cost can be used with the figure for annual capital charges which is developed in the next section.

If a single plant unit is being considered, then the production costs will include the costs of such utilities as power, gas, steam, feed water, ecoling water, etc. as are consumed in the process. In estimating a unit cost for these utilities, the necessary capital charges on the capital cost of the utility plants will be included. In the case of generalised costs where no site is specified the possible range of variation of utilities' costs is large. Typical figures are quoted in Section VI. The life of utility plants is often longer than that of process plant units and the depreciation on them is correspondingly lower. If costs are being estimated for a complete site, in which the capital cost of the utilities consumed will not be included in the production costs; the costs of operating the utilities plants will be included within a production cost for the whole complex.

Another point concerning the calculation of production costs for a complete fertilizer complex is the question of whether or not the return and depreciation on the capital cost of social facilities such as a housing colony should be included in the estimate of prospective production costs. These charges would certainly be included in feasibility study of a specific project, but they are difficult to handle in calculation of generalised production costs of the type being discussed in this paper. This is because the extent of such facilities varies greatly from site to site and their life is usually such longer than that of the process plant units. Also, the operating staff may be required to pay rentals for housing in the colony. It is better that these items are excluded and the costs of them regarded as a part of the overheads (item 6 of Table II) - if no rentals are charged.

IV. THE TREATMENT OF CAPITAL CHARGES IN PRODUCTION COSTS

We have been considering the build up of production cost data for general purposes such as technical literature, promotional data and general process and process route comparisons. In Section II, the relationship of these costs to retrospective production costs, which would be calculated by an accountant after plant start-up, was examined. It was shown that only the elements of production cost concerned with overhead costs and capital charges present difficulty. In Section III, we developed a capital cost designed to include allowance for all of the normal charges incurred in building a plant and putting it into operation.

The next step is to specify the basis for charging the cost of capital into the prospective production cost. This is a subject already discussed by the author in a paper to The Fertilizer Society last year (proceedings No. 114). It is necessary to charge in the annual production costs a percentage of the capital cost which accurately represents the financial charges (interest, taxes, depreciation, retention, etc.) which would be insurred by the plant over its working life. The problem is to include in a single production cost figure, financial charges which are equivalent to the set of charges allocated retrospectively each year in the life of the plant. Each year this retrospective charge is likely to be a different sum.

Why do the costs of capital change during the life of the plant ? Firstly, the actual depreciation charged against the plant may vary. Pore usually a plant is depreciated linearly giving a fixed yearly depreciation Secondly, as the plant grows older the interest charged on the recharge. duced capital value decreases. The financial charges in the generalised production cost must be that percentage of the initial capital value (as caloulated in Section III) which, if charged on the plant each year, will allow the capital sum to be amortized over the assumed life of the plant. Next the level at which we will charge "return on capital" must be specified. This is probably the single point which causes greatest variability in production cost It immediately raises two important and related points - inflation and data. the "true" cost of capital in a fertilise : manufacturing enterprise.

Inflation is not a cost of capital. It causes production costs to rise but equally selling prices are increased to cover the increased costs. The investor, however, can only retain the value of his capital against inflation by allocating a proportion of the interest he receives to cover the inflation. When prospective production costs are quoted for a plant, they refer to current cost conditions and therefore the element of interest or return on capital which covers the investor against inflation should not be included in the production costs. It will certainly have to be provided after the plant has started up but, like other inflation-related cost increases, it will be covered by increases in selling prices.

There is another way of justifying the exclusion of the inflation element of return on capital when dealing with production costs related to present day prices. The effect of inflation during the life of the plant is to allow the operating company (the borrower) to repay the lender with money having a lower purchasing power; for this privilege he pays the lender a rate of interest which is more than sufficient to keep the purchasing power of the lender's capital sum intact. When non-inflation conditions are being considered, the operating company repays the lender with money having the same purchasing power and it is unnecessary to pay the extra interest needed to keep the purchasing power of the lender's capital intact.

A further difficulty in providing a percentage rate for return on capital is that interest rates, rates of inflation and taxation all vary considerably from country to country. It is possible, however, to make realistic assumptions and build up a realistic percentage figure to charge for return on investment in the prospective production costs.

For major fertilizer projects it will usually be possible to obtain ioan and/or equity finance at interest rates of about 8%. In fact dividends on equity in the U.K. fertilizer industry at present are nearer to 5%, provided the company concerned has a good growth record. Allowing for the fact that the equity holder benefits from the growth of the company, these rates of 8% and 5% are comparable. Figure 1 outlines how a 15% return on capital might typically be allocated. The equity holder can reasonably hope to do better than 3% capital growth after Gains Tax, and this justifies his risk factor. If the 4% inflation element is removed, the company, the equity-holder and the lender can make the same income or somewhat better from a gross return on capital reduced to about 12%.

With 12% return on capital and the same 7% retention (before tax), reference to Figure 1 will show that the equity investor's position will improve somewhat more than that of the loan investor. The fact is, of course, that the dividend and interest rate financial structure would gradually adapt itself to the new situation if inflation were stopped.

Thus the project can pay Company Tax, provide for cash retained and meet equity-holders and lender's requirements of interest (less inflation element) from a return on capital in the project of about 12%. The inflation element for investors like inflation on raw materials, labour, etc. will be met from the inflation in sales revenues.

The return on capital to provide for interest, dividence, taxes and retentions (excluding inflation element) has been defined as 12%. In Table II in Section II, these elements were included as part of the "overheads" (Item G). Now return on capital must be combined with the depreciation element in a percentage figure for the capital charges, which amortizes the plant over its life. Many fertilizer plants operate for more than 20 years, but a typical operating life of plant (perhaps somewhat on the pessimistic side) is required. Taking a figure of 12 years and 12% return on capital, the capital charges element of production cost comes to 16% per annum of the installed capital cost calculated in Section IIT. Figures for other plant life and return figures are given in Table V.

This percentage figure for capital charges does not include any margin to allow for "risk" or uncertainty in achieving the estimated capital cost or forecast raw materials, labour costs, etc. It is applied, however, to a complete figure for the capital cost of the installed and operating plant. Any necessary risk analysis can be carried out in the normal way by applying probability distributions to the values of variables in which there is uncertainty; this is a more appropriate technique than the simple expedient of a mark-up on the return-on-capital called for from the project.

- 21 -



- 22 -

- 23 -

CAPITAL CHARGES FOR GENERAL PRODUCTION COSTS (% OF CAPITAL COST)

				en en standig for en en geleger staffetet. Se en
Plant		AN LEW YOO	n Capital	
(Yoare)	.	10,5	125	199
	2	6.4	a. 1	89.7
10 -	18.1	16.5	17.7	19.9
12	12.6	14.7	1	18.6
	4.3	13.1	14.7	17.1
8	9. 4	11.7	13.4	16.0

V. OVERHEADS

We have already included in the Capital Charges certain financial costs (tax, dividends, interest) which the accountant would allocate as overheads when calculating production costs retrospectively. The remaining overheads which would be allocated to a plant production cost are:

Administrative costs - management costs, communications, expenses,

depreciation on administrative offices, buildings and

equipment, etc.

Selling expenses - sales staff, advertising, quality control, etc. Distribution and transport costs.

Common site costs - local taxes, road and rail maintenance, etc. The levels of these costs can and do vary vory widely from plant to plant, site to site and from one company to another. Also the way in which the sost accountant allocates these costs retrospectively between plants and products is variable. In some cases certain overheads would be allocated only to particular plants - e.g. selling expenses may be allocated solely to plants making the end-products not to intermediate plants. The most realistic method of dealing with overheads is probably to relate them to plant "processing" cost i.e. all costs excluding raw materials. The processing is the business activity of the plant and it is to this business activity that overheads relate. Thus a figure of 10% of the production costs, excluding raw materials, is proposed for general overheads.

VI. PROSPECTIVE PRODUCTION COSTS

The previous sections of this paper have been concerned with the development of a basis for calculating production costs for such general purposes as technical and promotional literature, comparisons of process routes and assessment of R & D projects. It was pointed out earlier that more detailed analyses of projects must include data specific to the site, fertilizer producing organisation and country concerned. The basis for generalised costing developed in the previous sections can be applied to a single plant, a processing train or to a complete complex. Figure 2 shows a urea plant diagrammatically. The dotted lines lettered A, B, C encircle sections for which prospective production costs might be required.

> A - a single plant B - a processing stream

C - the complete fertiliser complex

For a plant of,1000 MTFD urea, the capital cost of the complete complex can be constructed as outlined in Section III. This is done in Table VI below, where the capital costs are those which would typically be incurred in a Developing Country. The amounts added to the basic plant cost - £16 million and £1.3 million - are close in total to the 50% mark-up proposed in Section III. Import duties, residential building and staff facilities have been excluded. The prospective production costs for the complex are estimated in Table VII.



TABLE VI

CAPITAL COST FOR 1000 MTPD UREA PROJECT IN DEVELOPING COUNTRY

.

	\$ Million	
Equipment, Bulk items	13.2	
Construction		
Civil works, site facilities	9.5	
Labour, supervision, local expenses	2.2	
Tools, equipment, materials	1.3	
Preight, Insurance		
Engineering, Licence fees	3.9	
Spares	1.2	n an the second s
		33.6
Basid cost of treating and Contingency	3.6	
Contractors margining and start-up costs	•••	
Consultanty, the man period - 105)	3	
Enclavion (12) Construction (125)	•••	
	0.7	
		16.0
	na an a	
Total Cost Brested and Cossissioned Flant		—
Allowance for Norking Capital (56)	5.0	a cina pranto de Proposito
Allowing for Long (11)	6.0	
Allowance for Land and Working Capital in	ang	and the second sec
Depisel Cost used as basis for Cepital		herry their the second second Carl and the second
	and the second sec	<u></u>
and the second	n an an ann an Anna an Anna an Anna an	· p. 9
ta a ta ang t Ta ang ta ang		
	e de la companya de la companya de la comp la companya de la comp	for and the second s
ու որուս է անդաման անդան ու ու անդանքերին անդան էր ու որունը։ Անդան և ենքան անդանքան էր ենքանում։ Հայ որու	anna an	and a second

۲

en time e grangelen skor setter state

- 27 -

PRODU	CTION COSTS FOR 1000 MI	PD UREA COMPLEX	
		Unit Cost	Annual Cost \$ Million
Natural Gas	$0.21 \times 10^{9}m^3$	\$ 10/1000m ³	2.10
Utilities	67 - 106 KWh	\$ 0.010/Kwh	0.67
Power	3.5 x 10 ⁶ m ³	\$ 0.02/m ³	0.07
Raw Water	a an	a series de la companya de la compa Astronomias de la companya de la comp	1.60
Catalysts and Chemical Maintenance Costs (4%	of Capital \$ 50.9m)		2.04
Insurance (0.3% of Car	uital ≸ 50.9m)		0.15
Labour			8.15

Labour Capital Charges (16% of Capital \$ 50.9m) Overheads (10% of Costs excluding Raw Materials - \$ 13.18m)

For Annual Production 330,000 MP

MARCHINE ALL

\$ 50/MT Urea

1.32

16.60

30 cants June 1. Th

- 28 -

TABLE VII

If we now consider a single plant in such a complex (case C) or the processing stream (case B), then values are needed for the unit costs of utilities. In the situation where a flowsheet for the complex incorporating the single plant has been prepared and the capital costs for the utility plants have been estimated, then unit costs for the utilities can be calculated; this is done using the procedure for capital charges and overheads which has been outlined in previous sections. More usually, when production costs for a single plant are being presented, data for each utility plant are not prepared in detail; in this case typical unit costs for utilities are assumed. Utility unit costs, which depend on the costs of fuel, power, raw water, etc. vary from one location to another. When a new plant is being considered on an existing site, the costs of utilities can depend on the precise energy balance for other plants already in operation. Any set of values for utility unit costs can be If generalised cost data are to be presented, however, subject to argument. then a set of typical unit costs must be selected. Such a set is proposed in Table VIII. Use of these utility cost figures for presentation of prospective production costs would lead to greater uniformity and comparability of cost data.

> ing in a second sec Industry in the second secon

- 29 -



Utility	Unit	Proposed Unit Cost (\$)		
Electric Power	kWh	0.10		
Naturel Gas * (1000 Btu/scf)	1000 m ³	10.00		
n and the second se Second second				
Raw water	, "3	0.02		
Process water (potablo)	1 2	0.05		
Boiler feed water		0.15		
Circulated cooling water	•	0.005		
Stean Condensate	•	0.15		
Steen h.p. 1.p.	n an	1.50 · 1.10.		

Û.

eost.

Other fuel gases and fuels at equivalent there

- 30 -

VII. PROSPECTIVE PRODUCTION COSTS FOR DEVELOPING COUNTRIES

So far in this paper, the analysis of prospective production costs has been equally applicable to Developing and Developed Countries. The particular problem, which needs to be considered in the case of Developing Countries whose currency is not freely convertible, is the influence the project will have on the country's balance of payments. In a Developing Country, a significant proportion of the cost of a project will have to be paid in convertible currency, since specialised equipment, engineering services and technology will be imported. The cost of these imports is usually covered by long-term financing. Projects are therefore required to cover the payment of interest and capital on such financing in convertible currency by either import replacement or exports from the plant. Continuing imports of raw materials, chemicals, spares, etc. must also be similarly covered.

When a detailed feasibility study for a fertilizer project in a Developing Country is being carried out, the project must be analysed financially at three distinct levels.

<u>Consercial Viability</u>: This is the normal assessment of return in local currency for the project and is based on the year-by-year cash flows during the assumed life of the plant.

Impact on Balance of Payments: In a feasibility study it is not difficult to assess the extent of capital and operating cost payments which must be made in convertible currency. On the benefit side it is usual to assume that the foreign currency savings of the project areaths full foreign exchange cost ($a \notin f$) of the amount of fertilizer equivalent to that produced in the plant; it is tacitly assumed that, if the fertilizer were not made in the plant under consideration, it would be imported. (This is not always a realistic assumption. The Government of the country concerned must make provision for the payment of the convertible currency elements of capital and operating costs.) Once annual each flows have been subdivided into local currency and convertible currency elements and the net saving in convertible currency payments has been estimated, the local currency cost of saving each β can be assessed. This cost is then compared with the figures for other projects and with the rate acceptable for the country concerned.

Impact on Internal Economy: The local currency element of the project

1 ...

must be financed and the project will pay a return on this local capital. A second benefit to the Internal Economy will be the revenue payable to the Government in the form of duties and taxes (on imported equipment, possibly on local resources used and also on profits made by the project and salaries paid to the workers).

Although it is possible to analyse each of these aspects when undertaking a feasibility study, it is not possible to develop a general prospective production cost which takes into account the balance of payments aspect of a pro-When considering a particular Developing Country, however, it is feasible ject. to develop a "hypothetical" production cost using a Shadow Rate of Exchange and compare this cost with the cost of equivalent imported fertilizer also converted The Shadow Rate used would be the local to local currency at the Shadow Rate. currency cost of saving convertible currency which is acceptable to that The hypothetical production cost is calculated by sub-Developing Country. dividing the capital cost (Table VI) and the production cost (Table VII) into local and convertible currency elements. The convertible element is then changed into local currency at the Shadow Rate and added to the local element. (The local element should not normally include taxes, duties, etc., which are payable to the Government concerned).

If the example in Section VI is used, we can consider a fictitious country whose rate of exchange is $1\beta = 10$ fs and for which the shadow rate is 15 fs to the β . For such a project the capital cost would be approximately 60% convertible currency and 40% local currency.

- 32 -

TABLE IX

HYPOTHETICAL PRODUCTION COST OF UREA IN A DEVELOPING COUNTRY

Capital Cost

fs Million	8 Million
204	30.5

Local	Convertible	S Converted at	Hypotheticel
Currency	Currency	Shadow Rate	Production
fs Million	& Million	(15 = 15 fs)	Cost
		fr. Million	Ca Millian

Annual Production Costs

Natural Gas	81.0			en de la construcción de la constru La construcción de la construcción d			21.0
Rower	6.7	12	an a				6.7
Rew water	0.7						0.7
Catalysts, Chemicals		ini ini Nata kasa	1.60	en andre andre andre	- 24.0		24.0
Maintenance	e and and						
Local (4%)	8.1		i i daga sa	a a construction de la construction de la construcción de la construcción de la construcción de la construcción La construcción de la construcción d			8.1
Foreign (4%)	and a standard stand Standard standard stan		1.55 .	andre og er statiske so hense som statiske som statiske hense som statiske som statiske	18,3	and the second second	18.9
Insurance	1.5						1.6
Labour	5.0						5.0
Capital (16%)	72.6		4.88		73.2	in Maria and Anna an Anna an Anna Anna an Anna an Anna Anna an Anna an	105.8
Overheads (assumed local)	13.2						13.2
	24, 27, 27, 28, 28, 28, 28, 28, 28, 28, 28, 28, 28						Asli, B

• •

41.00

For Annual Production 330,000 MP fs 619/MP Urea

This hypothetical cost can be compared with the cost of imported urea (c & f). In this example, provided that imported urea costs more than 619/15 = \$41.3/MT, then the project is acceptable; i.e. the cost of saving each \$\$ is less than 15 fs.

- 34 -

It is a fact that fertilizer projects in Developing Countries result frequently in increased local usage rather than import substitution; furthermore, much imported fertilizer is obtained under long term credit or aid arrangements. In these diroumstances the justification of projects on the grounds of balance of payments benefits is difficult to sustain. It is important to consider therefore what additional higher value products could be made in association with fertilizer projects in Developing Countries so that exports of these products at prices based on marginal or subsidised costing would compensate for the outflow of convertible currency attributable to the project. Such arrangements do present commercial problems and this may explain why plants with this type of export by-product have not proved popular in Developing Countries.

VIII. REVIEW OF ESTIMATING TECHNIQUES FOR PRODUCTION COSTS

1. Retimate basic capital cost of plant.

١.

6.

- 2. Mark up by 50% to obtain investment for installed and operating plant.
- 3. Estimate production costs using 16% of investment figure for annual capital charges.
 - If the costs of utilities are not being calculated for utility plants associated with the plant under consideration, use the typical figures in Table VIII.
- 5. For the cost of overheads, add 10% of the production costs (excluding raw materials).
 - To consider the effect on balance of payments for a developing country, calculate "hypothetical" production cost by adding local costs of production to foreign exchange costs converted to local currency at the Shadow Rate. Compare the "hypothetical" cost with the cost of equivalent imports (also converted to local cost at the Shadow Rate). If the import cost is higher then the project is acceptable on this basis of assessment.





Distribution:

10/10.9)⁴3 SUMLARY 5 July 1971 Criginal: DICLISI

United Nations Industrial Development Organization

Second Inter-regional Fortilizors Symposium

iov, USSA, 21 Suptember - 1 October 1971 New Dolhi, India, 2-13 October 1971

Agenda item V/4

SULLAY

FOR ECASTING TREDUCTION COSTS FOR FURTILISTS PROCESSES

by J.l. Pottor

Leonard Smith (Engineers) Limited Gillingham U:

Production costs have to be forecast for a number of different purposes - budgeting, feasibility studies, process evaluations and comparisons, assessment of R A D projects, technical literature. In the cases of budgeting and feasibility studies where the cost estimates concern spacific plants on known sites, it is possible to adopt definite costing techniques. There is, however, no uniformity of approach in proparing more generalized production cost data for the other purposes. It is sometimes maintained that any cost data, which are not specific to a particular plant on a specific site, are almost worthless. Such generalised production cost data must continue to be used for the purposes mentioned; this paper therefore reviews the proparation of such data.

The method used for proparing generalised production costs should be such that the data produced are closely related to the costs which the accountant would calculate in retrospect after the plant is in operation.

A plant capital cost, which includes all of the elements of cost which will be incurred in building a plant and putting it into operation, is constructed.

The major difficulties in preparing generalised production costs are shown to lie in the handling of capital charges and overheads. It is these two elements which result in the greatest differences between production cost figures presented by different sources.

1/ The views and opinions expressed in this paper are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of the secretariat of UNIDO. This decument has been reproduced without formal aditing.



In determining the level of capital charges for generalised production costs, the percentage of the total capital cost charged per annum must enable the plant cost to be amortized over the life of the plant at the rate of roturn demanded for the project. When a single production cost figure is quoted, it is based on current cost and wage levels and does not make allowance for the effects of inflation. Inflation itself should not be regarded as a capital charge; if costs are being calculated without provision for inflation, then the rate of return should be reduced to the level which would apparently be acceptable to the investor if he did not have to cover inflation out of his interest or dividends.

The paper concludes with a discussion of mothods for handling the special problems of Developing Countries when generalised production costs are used for such purposes as the analysis of alternative process routes.

-- <u>2</u>---

